VI ARGENTINE CONGRESS OF OPHTHALMOLOGY

The VI Argentine Congress of Ophthalmology will be held in the city of Mar del Plata, Argentina, from April 9 to 14, 1957, under the presidency of Dr. Carlos S. Damel (Vice-Presidents: Prof. Paulina Satanovsky and Dr. Nicolas Gonzalez Llanos).

The official subjects are the Cornea and Vertical Strabismus.

All correspondence should be sent to Dr. Jorge Balza, Secretary of the VI Argentine Congress of Ophthalmology, Post-Office No. 2699, Buenos Aires, Argentina.

STANDARDIZATION OF TONOMETERS

Dr. Peter Kronfeld has offered to send to members of the Ophthalmological Society of the United Kingdom a free copy of the Decennial Report of the Committee on the Standardization of Tonometers. Will any member who wishes to receive a copy please write to the Honorary Secretary of the Society, 45 Lincoln's Inn Fields, London, W.C.2, before August 30, 1956.

AMERICAN OPHTHALMOLOGICAL SOCIETY

The following officers have been appointed for 1956-57:

President - - - - Dr. Frederick C. Cordes (San Francisco)
Vice-President - - - - Dr. Walter S. Atkinson (Watertown, N.Y.)
Secretary-Treasurer - - - - Dr. Maynard C. Wheeler (New York)
Editor - - - - Dr. Gordon M. Bruce (New York)

HONOURS

Mr. J. W. Tudor Thomas was created a knight in the recent Birthday Honours.

OBITUARY

Harold Edgar Smith

The death took place at a nursing home in Aberdeen on June 12, 1956, of Dr. Harold Edgar Smith, one of the best known ophthalmologists in the North East of Scotland. He was 76 years of age.

Edgar Smith had begun his career with the Foreign Office in view, and prepared himself accordingly with an honours degree in classics and a period as private secretary to the Marquis of Tullyardine. Thereafter, however, his diplomatic plans were changed, and he returned to Aberdeen University to study medicine, graduating M.B., Ch.B. in 1910. He became house physician to Professor (later Sir Ashley) Mackintosh. At that time the professor of medicine shared a house-man with the senior ophthalmologist. Dr. Charles Howard Usher, and the absence of Professor Mackintosh through ill health for part of that year, and the inspiration of Usher's personality and work changed young Edgar Smith's outlook completely, though he retained his love of neurology. At the end of his period as Resident he had only one ambition—ophthalmology with Usher after post-graduate training from the continental masters.

This was the beginning of a long and happy partnership. The first world war did not part them, for they saw service in the Salonika campaign, and then both returned to Aberdeen to private work and hospital duties, Edgar Smith succeeding Usher as chief at the children's Hospital and becoming a part-time lecturer in ophthalmology at the university.
It was a great grief to his many patients when in 1950 he retired to the bird sanctuary he had created with the enthusiastic co-operation of his wife at Culterty, near Newburgh, some 12 miles north of Aberdeen. Throughout his long professional life it is doubtful if “H.E.S.” ever made an enemy. He was blessed with an even temperament and it was rare to hear him raise his voice even to the most trying patient. He was an excellent teacher, never attempting to impart too much knowledge at a time. His hospital notes were brief but adequate and written in large exquisite Italian hand-writing that has made their reading a joy to the next generation of ophthalmologists. To these younger people he endeared himself by his charm of manner and his readiness to advise and help in all difficulties. No one ever sought help in vain, but his most outstanding quality was his loyalty, and that his colleagues could always count on. One sometimes wondered what loss the diplomatic service sustained by his fortuitous entry into ophthalmology. No gloomy prognosis given to a patient sounded half so bad when phrased by “H.E.S.”

In addition to a full professional life Edgar Smith had many cultural interests. Ornithology in Scotland owed much to him, and his Newburgh Bird Sanctuary became a Mecca for bird lovers as well as for his many friends. It is sad to recall that during the last few years of his life as a semi-invalid he had mainly to be content to view a corner of it from the windows of a sick-room. Last autumn he was advised for the sake of his health to find a new house away from the sea. The purchase of Culterty by Aberdeen University for research by the Department of Natural History comforted him a little at having to leave the sanctuary he had built up with such loving care. He remarked lately that to leave Culterty would break his heart and indeed it has almost seemed so, as he survived the uprooting by only two weeks. His many friends, ophthalmic and otherwise, will ever cherish the memory of a singularly selfless and warm-hearted man. He was predeceased by his wife some 5 years ago.

JOHN DEMPSTER FRASER

Dr. John Dempster Fraser, T.D., died suddenly, on May 21, 1956, while giving evidence in court, in his 43rd year.

Dr. Fraser was a native of Glasgow, and graduated M.B., Ch.B., with Honours at that University in 1936. After holding medical and surgical posts at the Western Infirmary, he entered ophthalmology as a resident with the late Professor Ballantyne in the Tennent Institute, and joined the staff of that department and of the Glasgow Eye Infirmary just before the outbreak of war in 1939. As a serving territorial officer, he was mobilized as medical officer to the 6th Battalion the Highland Light Infantry, in 1939, and in 1940 was posted as ophthalmic specialist to the Military Hospital at Hong Kong, where he was a prisoner-of-war from 1941-1945. He was mentioned in dispatches for his services in the hospital during this period.

On his return to Scotland after the war, it is characteristic of the man that he took up duty at his hospitals the day after he arrived home.

In 1949 he became a Fellow of the Royal Faculty of Physicians and Surgeons, and, at the time of his death, he was a surgeon in charge of wards at the Glasgow Eye Infirmary, and also acted as pathologist. He had recently taken over as surgeon in charge of the orthoptic school at the Eye Infirmary, and had joined the British Orthoptic Board.

He was one of these willing and friendly people on whose shoulders secretariats naturally fall. At the time of his death, he was Secretary of the Scottish Ophthalmological Club, which is but the last of a series. An able ophthalmologist, and a genuine and cheerful colleague, his passing is a severe loss to ophthalmology in Glasgow.

He is survived by a widow and two young children.